## SSRIs or CBT as a treatment method for ASD patients



(Department of Psychiatry, 2019)

Vera Sijbesma; S4825047 Biology, Behaviour and Neurosciences Faculty of Science and Engineering University of Groningen Bachelor's Thesis Life Sciences IIb (WBBY901-05) Supervisor: prof. dr. Martien J.H. Kas June 21, 2024

# Table of contents

Abstract 2						
Introduction						
Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors						
SSRIs and their mechanism of action5						
Possible side effects of SSRI treatment5						
Contraindications6						
Effectiveness of SSRIs as ASD treatment6						
Fluoxetine7						
Citalopram7						
Fluvoxamine8						
Escitalopram						
Sertraline						
Paroxetine and Vilazodone8						
Cognitive behavioural treatment						
What is cognitive behavioural treatment?10						
Possible side effects of CBT10						
Effectiveness of CBT as ASD treatment10						
Discussion						
References						

### Abstract

Autism spectrum disorder is a neurodevelopmental disorder characterized by the presence of deficits in social communication and restrictive, repetitive behaviours. It is thought to be present in circa 1% of each country's population. There are different treatment methods used to decrease the presence of ASD symptoms in individuals however, the degree of efficacy has not been truly assessed thus far. One of these treatments is the prescription of SSRIs which block the reuptake of serotonin in the synaptic cleft prolonging serotonin stimulation. The degree of effect of SSRIs appears to be specific for each distinct type of SSRI with only Fluoxetine and Fluvoxamine improving ASD symptoms, whose use is often accompanied by side effects. Another type of treatment used is CBT which combines behavioural and cognitive treatment and focuses on replacing harmful/dysfunctional thoughts and behaviours with more positive ones. It has been shown that CBT is able to reduce ASD symptoms and that it can be used as a treatment for co-morbid disorders.

There is a gap in literature present when looking at the effects of SSRIs on ASD symptoms, therefore while some SSRIs may be able to help with ASD symptoms it is difficult to know if the benefits outweigh the risks. This indicates that SSRIs should probably not be used as a first-line treatment. On the other hand, CBT appears to be effective as an ASD treatment, even though the effect size can be debated due to the lack of big cohort studies and the need for adaptive CBT protocols, as these adapted CBT protocols are able to achieve better results than standard of practice CBT protocols. Nonetheless, this positive view on the effectiveness of CBT and the lack of possible side effects would allow this therapy to be considered as a first-line treatment.

### Introduction

Autism spectrum disorder (ASD) is a well-known neurodevelopmental disorder that is characterized by deficits in social communication and the presence of restrictive, repetitive behaviours which can be present in different severities in each individual (Hodges et al., 2020; The American Psychiatric Association, 2013).

The prevalence of ASD is expected to be around 1% of the population of the United States of America. This 1% is also believed to be representative for other country's populations (The American Psychiatric Association, 2013). Diagnosis of ASD is seen more often in males than it is in females. Previously the male-female ratio was thought to be 4:1 (Ratto et al., 2017; The American Psychiatric Association, 2013), however, a more recent study has demonstrated that this ratio is likely to lay closer to 3:1, suggesting that a proportion of females with ASD go unrecognized (Loomes et al., 2017).

As previously mentioned, ASD is defined by deficits in social behaviours. This characteristic is divided into three aspects, namely problems with social-emotional reciprocity, nonverbal communication, and development, maintenance, and understanding of relationships (Lord et al., 2018; The American Psychiatric Association, 2013). Besides deficits in social behaviours, restricted, repetitive behaviours are seen as a characteristic of ASD. This core feature can also be divided into several subcategories, this being the repetition of motor movement, repetitive use of objects, repetition of speech patterns, adherence to routines, presence of patterns both verbal and nonverbal, hyper fixation on different subjects that reach an abnormal level of intensity, and being hyper- or hypo-reactive to sensory input from the environment (Lord et al., 2018; The American Psychiatrican Psychiatric Association, 2013).

Even though ASD is characterized by these core features, it is recognized that clinical heterogeneity is present in regard to the aetiology, phenotype, and outcome of the hallmarks of ASD (Lord et al., 2018; Masi et al., 2017). Many factors play a role in the presence of this heterogeneity. One of these factors is genetic variation, which is associated with the development of ASD. Masi et al. (2017) showed that there does not appear to be a specific mutation that is the main cause, but rather that the cause lies by a combinatorial effect of several mutations. However, while it appears to be mainly a combinatorial effect, there are studies that have shown that there are cases where specific mutations play a major role in the development of ASD. So is there under patients with fragile X syndrome, tuberous sclerosis, and Down's syndrome, which are all genetically defined diseases, a high prevalence of ASD (Kohane et al., 2012). Besides genetic variability, comorbidity of other diseases also plays a significant role in the heterogeneity of ASD. Research has shown that over 10% of ASD patients suffer from bowel disorders or epilepsy, another 5% show cases of central nervous system or cranial abnormalities, and 2% of the patients suffer in addition to ASD of schizophrenia (Kohane et al., 2012). Additionally, around 40% of the patients diagnosed with ASD are also diagnosed with at least one type of anxiety disorder (Zaboski & Storch, 2018).

Diagnosis of ASD has to be based on behavioural deficits, as no reliable biomarkers are known for this disorder (Lord et al., 2018). A study that was able to show why this is the case is one performed by Lenroot and Yeung (2013). In this study, the researchers looked at what neuroimaging was able to tell about the heterogeneity in ASD. The main conclusion given

was that there are patterns of brain abnormalities present in people with ASD, however, there is a lot of inconsistency present between the different study results, which makes it difficult to identify a biomarker that could be meaningful on an individual level.

While neuroimaging cannot be used as a biomarker for ASD diagnosis as there are no changes in brain pattern that hold for every individual (Lenroot & Yeung, 2013) it is known that brain development happens differently in people who will later be diagnosed with ASD. At birth, brain volume seems to be either smaller or equal to normal (Courchesne et al., 2003; Lainhart et al., 1997). However, children in the age range of two to four years old who have ASD have been shown to have increased brain volumes, specifically in the cerebral cortical grey



*Figure 1*: Brain volume of cerebellar white matter of children at different ages ranging from 2 to 4 years old. Taken from (Courchesne, 2002).

matter, cerebral white matter, and cerebellar white matter (**Figure 1**) (Courchesne, 2002). After this initial overgrowth of the brain, growth will slow down to abnormal levels in some brain regions, while premature growth arrest happens in other brain regions (Courchesne et al., 2001; Courchesne, 2002; Courchesne, 2004).

Individuals with ASD often struggle with social and repetitive behaviours (The American Psychiatric Association, 2013) and therefore struggle to function in the current society (Bishop-Fitzpatrick et al., 2017). Currently, there is no curative treatment available for people with ASD. Instead, treatment is focused on maximizing functional independence and quality of life. This is done by minimizing the presence and effect of social behaviour deficits and the presence of repetitive behaviour. Additionally, therapy can focus on the facilitation of development and learning, promotion of socialization, and reduction of eventually present maladaptive behaviour in ASD patients. If necessary, education and support can be made available for the families (Shenoy et al., 2017). The types of treatments used to achieve these goals are numerous, including applied behavioural analysis, cognitive behavioural treatment (CBT) and distinct types of medication such as selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors (SSRIs) and antipsychotics (Masi et al., 2017; Shenoy et al., 2017). Since there is such a high degree of heterogeneity among people with ASD personalized treatment and medicine are an important aim as this would create the most effective treatment possible (Frye et al., 2022; Masi et al., 2017).

Even with the current knowledge of heterogeneity in ASD, little has been done to see how this affects the effectiveness of several types of treatment that can be used to treat ASD symptoms. By diving deeper into two specific treatment methods, CBT and the use of SSRIs, it would become clear why these therapies are used and how effective they actually are. With this information, it could be decided if these therapies should indeed be implemented in all cases of ASD and if so, should they be used as a first line of treatment. Additionally, this can help in understanding why some treatments work better in one group of patients than they work in other patients.

### Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors

#### SSRIs and their mechanism of action

Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors are commonly prescribed as antidepressants; however, they are also prescribed for several other psychiatric disorders such as social anxiety disorder and, off-label, ASD (Chu & Wadhwa, 2023; Edinoff et al., 2021).

The mechanism of action of SSRIs is the inhibition of the reuptake of serotonin by blocking the action of the serotonin transporter that is present at the presynaptic axon. This inhibition causes an increase in the amount of serotonin present in the synaptic cleft, allowing for prolonged stimulation of the postsynaptic receptors (Chu & Wadhwa, 2023; Edinoff et al., 2021). A benefit of using this type of antidepressants is that SSRIs only have a small effect on the levels of other neurotransmitters like dopamine and noradrenaline (Chu & Wadhwa, 2023).

However, SSRIs have a delayed effect. Some patients may already feel the effect of the SSRI they are taking at the end of the first week, but in most cases, it will take longer. In the worst-case scenario, they may have to wait up to six weeks before they feel the effects (Chu & Wadhwa, 2023; Edinoff et al., 2021; Taylor et al., 2006). This delay of effect suggests that the acute increase in serotonin that takes place when taking SSRIs is necessary, but insufficient to create the needed effects. While no exact mechanism is known for this, it is thought that the elevated level of serotonin causes a gradual shift of brain homeostasis and neuro-functioning leading to a change in gene transcription and activation. This change may take four to six weeks, which correlates with the maximum time needed to reach the full effectiveness of the SSRIs (Edinoff et al., 2021; Santarsieri & Schwartz, 2015). While this is the main mechanism of action of SSRIs, there will be differences present between the several types of SSRIs: Fluoxetine, Sertraline, Paroxetine, Fluvoxamine, Citalopram, Escitalopram, Vilazodone (Chu & Wadhwa, 2023; Edinoff et al., 2021).

#### Possible side effects of SSRI treatment

While SSRIs are, in general, better tolerated than other antidepressants, there are still several side effects that a patient may suffer from when taking them. These side effects are often dose-dependent, and a couple of the most common ones are nausea, headache, insomnia, agitation, weight changes, and decreased sex drive (Chu & Wadhwa, 2023; Edinoff et al., 2021; Lochmann & Richardson, 2018).

Besides these common side effects, there are also more rare side effects. One of these is the prolongation of the QT interval (**Figure 2**), which represents the duration of the systolic phase of the ventricles, including depolarization and repolarization (Ambhore et al., 2014). Researchers have shown that Citalopram may cause this QT prolongation in a dose-dependent manner. Additionally, people with risk factors that could lead to QT interval prolongation seem to have an increased



**Figure 2**: Representation of what a prolonged QT interval looks compared to a regular electrocardiogram (ECG). Taken form Thryv Therapeutics (2020).

vulnerability to this side effect (Cooke & Waring, 2012; Edinoff et al., 2021). Prolonged QT interval predisposes to some arrhythmias such as Torsades de Pointes and could in some cases lead to sudden death (Ambhore et al., 2014; Edinoff et al., 2021).

One of the most debated side effects of SSRIs is an increased risk of suicidality. This is due to the inconsistent results found in the subsequent studies that took place after the initial case reports. With some studies yielding an elevated risk of suicide when taking SSRIs, while others show no significant increase or decrease in suicidality, and another set of studies showing a decrease in suicide risk when taking SSRIs (Li et al., 2024). Therefore, while it is unclear how correct it is to name an increase in suicidality a side effect of SSRIs, it is still important to keep it in mind as a potential side effect as the consequences could be fatal.

Even though it cannot be classified as a side effect, it is important to mention that SSRIs are metabolized by the cytochrome P450 (CYP) enzymes which are mainly present in the liver and play a role in most cases of drug metabolisms (Chu & Wadhwa, 2023; Zhao et al., 2021). Meaning that in cases of liver diseases doses may have to be adjusted to prevent higher SSRI levels than desired (Corponi et al., 2022; Villeneuve & Pichette, 2004). Besides SSRIs levels being affected by the CYP enzymes, SSRIs themselves also affect them. Most SSRIs inhibit the functioning of the enzyme CYP2D6, with other enzymes being affected in some cases (Brøsen, 1998; Chu & Wadhwa, 2023). Since these enzymes often play such a key role in drug metabolism, their inhibition could lead to an increased level of co-administered drugs, which in turn could cause some adverse effects (Brøsen, 1998; Zhao et al., 2021).

#### **Contraindications**

Patients taking SSRIs should be monitored for the presence of side effects. However, there are cases where the use of SSRIs is contraindicated. One of these situations is when patients use any type of medication that would increase the serotonin levels, such as monoamine oxidase inhibitors. The reason this combination is contraindicated is because it could lead to the development of serotonin syndrome, which results from excessive activity of serotonin throughout the nervous system; and the consequences of this syndrome can range from mild to fatal (Chu & Wadhwa, 2023; Simon et al., 2024).

Additionally, there is a Paroxetine-specific contraindication, as this specific SSRI is contraindicated during pregnancy. Paroxetine has been shown to have teratogenic effects when prescribed in the first trimester, causing cardiac malformations in the embryo (Chu & Wadhwa, 2023; Nevels et al., 2016).

#### Effectiveness of SSRIs as ASD treatment

The mechanism of action of each specific type of SSRI is the same, however, each compound is differently structured, and this often causes differences in the pharmaceutical activity of each compound. Thus, while looking at the effectiveness of SSRIs it is important to look at the individual effects of each type of SSRI. An overview of theses specific effects can be found in **Table 1**.

#### Fluoxetine

Looking at Fluoxetine, Hollander et al. (2004) found in their controlled crossover trial that giving children and adolescents with ASD liquid Fluoxetine significantly reduced repetitive behaviours. However, they did not find any significant effects on global autism symptoms. Besides the positive effect of Fluoxetine on repetitive behaviour the researchers did not find an increase in side effects when comparing the Fluoxetine and placebo groups. This includes no effects on weight gain and no increased risk of suicidality for the Fluoxetine group.

Adding proof to the positive effect of Fluoxetine, Hollander et al. (2012) showed in a randomized control trial that Fluoxetine given to adults with ASD significantly reduced repetitive behaviour. Additionally, patients treated with Fluoxetine showed greater improvement in the overall severity of the symptoms. Fluoxetine was tolerated well in this trial, with only mild to moderate side effects present in the patients. Additionally, no suicide intentions were found in either the Fluoxetine or the placebo group.

Further research on the effect of Fluoxetine in ASD patients was also done by Reddihough et al. (2019). They performed a randomized clinical trial where they tested the effect of taking Fluoxetine on obsessive-compulsive behaviour in children and adolescents. After primary analysis (adjustment for site, age, and intellectual ability) the researchers found a significant improvement in obsessive-compulsive behaviour in the groups treated with Fluoxetine. However, during secondary analysis (adjusting for additional factors such as sex, and verbal vs. nonverbal) no significant effects of Fluoxetine were found. Side effects were present in 45% of the Fluoxetine groups and 42% of the placebo groups, with these side effects being of mild nature in most cases. It is, however, important to note that the interpretation of these results is limited by a high dropout rate of patients during the course of the trial.

#### Citalopram

Unlike Fluoxetine, Citalopram was not found to have a significant effect on reducing repetitive behaviour in children and adolescents with ASD (King et al., 2009). The researchers note that this is not likely caused by inadequate sampling or poor adherence to the protocol. They do, however, theorize that the dosing may not have been adequate. Despite the lack of significant results regarding changes in repetitive behaviour, King et al. (2009) did find a significantly increased amount of side effects within the group treated with Citalopram compared to the placebo group. While most of the adverse effects were mild, there were also several cases of moderate side effects and even some serious side effects, namely the experience of seizures. This significant increase in side effects does raise a concern regarding the safety of Citalopram for children and adolescents.

Using the data recorded by King et al. (2009) Simonoff et al. (2022) looked at the effect of Citalopram on anxiety symptoms of children and adolescents with ASD. The researchers found a decrease in anxiety symptoms in both the Citalopram and placebo group, suggesting some degree of placebo effect. However, a greater improvement in symptoms was found in the group treated with Citalopram. Despite this difference in improvement, the researchers could not conclude that a significant improvement took place in the Citalopram group. Even so, it cannot be said with certainty that Citalopram has no effects on anxiety symptoms in

children and adolescents with ASD. Especially when taking into consideration that the data used in this study did not consist of children and adolescents specifically selected for the presence of anxiety disorders, as this was not the primary goal of King et al. (2009).

#### Fluvoxamine

McDougle et al. (1996) showed in their research that Fluvoxamine was able to significantly reduce ASD hallmarks in adults. Fluvoxamine was able to reduce repetitive behaviour and aggression and improve social behaviour. This trial lasted 12 weeks, and during this period mild side effects were present in the patients taking Fluvoxamine, indicating that the drug was well tolerated. Important to note is that the sample size of this research is rather small, with 15 subjects in each of the groups, meaning that the sample may not be fully representative of the whole ASD population.

#### Escitalopram

Owley et al. (2010) looked at the effect of Escitalopram on the Aberrant Behaviour Checklist (ABC), specifically looking at the irritability score category. To do this, the researchers separated the subjects into three groups based on the expression levels of the serotonin transporter (low, intermediate, and high). No significant changes in the results of the ABC irritability score were found in any of the groups, however, the researchers do mention that the groups of low serotonin transporter expression showed a much smaller change in the irritability score than the other groups. While the researchers did mention keeping track of side effects no data was provided on which side effects were present and of which nature they were.

#### Sertraline

Sertraline has not been shown to have a significant effect on the improvement of ASD hallmarks when compared to placebo treatment in a six-month clinical trial (Potter et al., 2019). However, Potter et al. (2019) also note that there were several limitations present during the research, starting with a limited sample size and possibly a sample bias that was created by the recruitment criteria. Additionally, the researchers mention that subjects were drawn from the same region creating a sample that may not be fully representable. Besides a lack of effect, the researchers also mentioned the lack of significant difference when looking at the presence of side effects in the Sertraline and placebo group, which would indicate that a six-month treatment of Sertraline appears to be safe, but longer-term safety of Sertraline still has to be assessed.

### Paroxetine and Vilazodone

Little to no data is available on the effect of Paroxetine or Vilazodone on the hallmarks of ASD, making it difficult to know whether or not the use of these two SSRIs is recommended. What is known so far about Paroxetine is that it appears to be the least safe option of all the SSRIs currently available (Nevels et al., 2016). Indicating that even in the case of Paroxetine being effective, it would probably not be the first recommended treatment as the chances of the benefits outweighing the risks are small.

Vilazodone is an SSRI that has, thus far, been approved by the United States Food and Drug Administration (FDA) in 2011 for the treatment of Major Depressive Disorder (Viibryd (Vilazodone) FDA Approval History, n.d.). It is a relatively new SSRI, however superiority of this new SSRI compared to other SSRIs still has to be demonstrated. Important is to mention that Vilazodone is considered safe and well-tolerated (Wang et al., 2016). Since Vilazodone is such a relatively new drug little is known about possible off-label disorders it could be used in.

Type of SSRI	Study	Subjects	Study type	Duration	Outcome	Side effects
Fluoxetine	Hollander	n = 44 with 5	Controlled crossover	1 <sup>st</sup> treatment = 8 weeks	Reduction of repetitive behaviours	No increase found in the
	et al. (2004)	not included	trial	Washout period = 4	in children and adolescents	Fluoxetine group
		in final		weeks	No effect on global ASD symptoms	
		analysis		2 <sup>nd</sup> treatment = 8 weeks		
	Hollander	n = 37	Double-blind placebo-	12 weeks	Reduction of repetitive behaviours	Tolerated well with only
	et al. (2012)		controlled fluoxetine		in adults and improvement of	mild to moderate side
			trial		overall symptom severity	effects
	Reddihough	n = 146	Randomized clinical	16 weeks	Improvement of obsessive-	45% of the Fluoxetine
	et al. (2019)		trial		compulsive behaviour in children	and 42% of the placebo
					and adolescents after primary	group presented side
					analysis	effects, these being
					Secondary analysis showed no	mostly of mild nature
					effect	
Citalopram	King et al.	n = 149	Randomized controlled	12 weeks	No effect on reducing repetitive	Increase in side effects
	(2009)		trial		behaviours in children and	of mild, moderate and
					adolescents	severe nature in the
						Citalopram group
	Simonoff et	n = 149	Secondary analyses of	12 weeks	Decrease in anxiety symptoms in	No explicitly mentioned
	al. (2022)		the double-blind,		children and adolescents of the	but taken form King et al.
			placebo-controlled RCT		placebo and Citalopram group,	(2009) there was an
			from King et al. (2009)		with a larger non-significant	increase in side effects in
					increase in the citalopram group	the Citalopram group
Fluvoxamine	McDougle	n = 30	Double-blind, placebo-	12 weeks	Reduce repetitive behaviour and	Fluvoxamine was well
	et al. (1996)		controlled trial		aggression, and improve social	tolerated, with side
					behaviour in adults	effects of mild nature
Escitalopram	Owley et al.	n = 58	Open label in terms of	10 weeks	No changes in ABC irritability score	Side effects were
	(2010)		medication, but blind in		were found in any of the three	measured, but not
			terms of genotype		genotypes, with low serotonin	specific data was
					transporter expression showing the	provided
					smallest difference.	
Sertraline	Potter et al.	n= 58	Randomized, double-	6 months	No effect on ASD hallmarks	No differences found in
	(2019)		blind, placebo-			presence of side effects
			controlled trial			

#### **Table 1**: Overview of the studies examining the effectiveness of the diverse types of SSRIs as an ASD treatment.

### **Cognitive behavioural treatment**

#### What is cognitive behavioural treatment?

The basic idea behind CBT is that thoughts, behaviours, and feelings are closely related and that these factors play a significant role in the well-being of a person. As the name suggests CBT is a combination of cognitive and behavioural therapy. Cognitive therapy is focused on recognizing and changing beliefs that are untrue and/or distressing, as often the situation is not the only cause of the problem and the exaggerated importance attached to it also plays a significant role. Behavioural therapy is based on the theory that behaviour is learned and therefore it can be changed. It aims to find which behavioural patterns make problems worse or make life more difficult and once these patterns have been found individuals can work towards changing them (Institute for Quality and Efficiency in Health Care, 2022).

The combination of cognitive and behavioural therapy leads to a type of treatment that focuses on letting the patient work on current thoughts and behaviours which are characterized by making the patient feel bad about themselves. The goal is for the patient to be able to help themselves, therefore being able to return to their daily lives without therapy. This is done by challenging their current harmful and/or dysfunctional behaviours and beliefs and subsequentially replacing them with behaviours and thoughts that do not have the same negative effect on the patient. Additionally, patients will learn to adapt and reflect on situations that would normally cause a feeling of anxiety (Beck, 2020; Institute for Quality and Efficiency in Health Care, 2022; Wang et al., 2021).

#### Possible side effects of CBT

Following some types of psychological treatment may lead to the presentation of side effects (Institute for Quality and Efficiency in Health Care, 2022). However, it is important to notice that these side effects are different from the ones that are seen when using pharmacological treatments, as they are not caused by influencing biological pathways.

The side effects that may be seen in psychological treatment are feelings of distress at first as facing personal problems and anxieties is often very confronting. Additionally, in some cases, relationships with other people can be negatively affected. However, there is not much literature available on the possible side effects of this type of therapy (Institute for Quality and Efficiency in Health Care, 2022).

### Effectiveness of CBT as ASD treatment

In a meta-analysis performed by Weston et al. (2016), it was shown that CBT as a treatment for co-morbid disorders in ASD and symptoms of ASD had a small to medium effect size in children, adolescents, and adults. These results were affected by the method used to obtain the data, this being either self-report, informant-report, clinician-report, or task-based measurement. An overview of these results can be found in **Table 2**.

Focusing on CBT as a treatment for co-morbid disorders in ASD it has been shown that analysis completed with self-report measurements yielded a small and non-significant effect size with the presence of significant heterogeneity. Once correct for this, the effect size was still small and non-significant. When looking at data collected through informant- and clinical-reports a medium effect size was found, also with a significant presence of heterogeneity. Correction for this yielded a medium effect size. No data was provided on the effects seen when using task-based measurement (Weston et al., 2016).

When looking at the effectiveness of CBT for symptoms of ASD instead of co-morbid disorders comparable results were found. When looking at self-reported data the effect size was small and non-significant, however in this case heterogeneity was also non-significant. The researchers still decided to correct for this, which led to a further decrease of the effect size. Analysis using informant-report measurements resulted in a small, but significant effect size, and after taking heterogeneity into account it increased to medium. The use of clinical-reports resulted in a medium significant effect size, however after correction of heterogeneity it changed to a non-significant medium effect size. Task-based measurement resulted in a small significant effect size, but correction for heterogeneity resulted in a non-significant effect size, but correction for heterogeneity resulted in a non-significant effect size. (Weston et al., 2016).

From these results, it can be seen that treatment efficacy is dependent on the type of measurement that is used, but that there may be a positive effect of CBT present. Weston et al. (2016) do note that there are several limitations to this meta-analysis, one important one is the fact that most studies included in the analysis had only small samples, therefore the conclusions reached in this analysis are probably limited.

**Table 2**: Overview of the effect of the measurement method used on the reported effectiveness of CBT as an ASD symptoms treatment or as a co-morbid disorder treatment (Weston et al., 2016).

		Self-report	Informant-report	Clinical-report	Task-based measurement
	Co-morbid disorders	Small, non-significant effect size	Medium, significant effect size	Medium, significant effect size	n.a.
	Heterogeneity	Small, non-significant effect size	Medium, significant effect size	Medium, significant effect size	n.a.
	correction				
	ASD symptoms	Small, non-significant effect size	Small, significant effect size	Medium, significant effect size	Small, significant effect size
Heterogeneity		Further decrease of effect size	Medium, significant effect size	Medium, non-significant effect size	Small, non-significant effect size
	correction				

Similar results were found by Wang et al. (2021), who showed in their analysis that children and adolescents who received CBT had a significant improvement in symptoms of ASD and social-emotional problems when data was collected using informant- or clinician-reports, but no significant effects were seen when using the self-report method.

A more specific example of the positive effect of CBT on ASD symptoms can be seen in a study performed by Kurz et al. (2018) where nine drug-naïve male children went through a standardized CBT protocol. Behaviour was scored using the ABC at baseline and after 12 months. The results obtained showed a significant change in several behaviours namely irritability, lethargy, and hyperactivity. However, it is important to note that the sample size in this study is small and that there is no control group present, making interpretation limited.

It becomes clear that CBT can be beneficial for ASD patients, however, CBT has several different protocols that can be used, of which some may be more or less effective when treating a specific group of patients. Wood et al. (2020) have been able to show this in their research where they formed three groups out of a cohort of ASD patients with maladaptive and interfering anxiety. One group followed the standard of practice CBT protocol, while another followed an adapted CBT program, and the last group followed the treatment as usual protocol. In each group, the changes in anxiety symptoms were measured. The

researchers concluded that both CBT protocols outperformed treatment as usual in reducing anxiety symptoms in children with ASD; however, the adapted CBT protocol proved to be superior in reducing these symptoms when compared to the standard of practice CBT protocol.

While little literature is available on the effect of CBT on brain structure in ASD patients, there is literature available its effects on brain structure in anxiety, which is a disorder often present in ASD patients (Zaboski & Storch, 2018). Haller et al. (2024) have found that CBT normalized the hyperactivation in the fronto-parietal regions of the brain that is normally seen in children and adolescents with anxiety disorders. This change was however not seen in certain frontal regions and in the right amygdala, but the authors point out that the effect that is seen in this study is an acute effect of CBT, and therefore theorize that longer-term follow-up may still show a normalization in the amygdala. These changes found in patients with anxiety disorders suggests that CBT could also cause brain structural changes in ASD patients, however more research is needed to confirm this.

### Discussion

From the literature that is currently available, it can be said that the effectiveness of SSRIs to treat ASD symptoms is dependent on the type of SSRI that is used. Fluoxetine and Fluvoxamine show a decreasing effect on some symptoms of ASD (Hollander et al., 2004; Hollander et al., 2012; McDougle et al., 1996; Reddihough et al., 2019). On the other hand, Escitalopram, and Sertraline have not been shown to have any kind of improving effect on the symptoms of ASD (Owley et al., 2010; Potter et al., 2019). Citalopram is a bit of a special case as it does not seem to have an effect on ASD characteristics, but it may have some effect on the anxiety symptoms that are often present in ASD patients (King et al., 2009; Simonoff et al., 2022). For other SSRIs there is little to no literature available in which effectiveness for ASD is assessed, thus no conclusions can be drawn for them.

While some SSRIs appear to be effective as ASD treatment, it is important to keep in mind that side effects are common in people using them and that these can range from mild to severe (Edinoff et al., 2021). Besides this, there is little known about the risk of side effects in ASD patients taking SSRIs as long-term treatment studies have not been performed to assess this. Additionally, no studies have been done to look at the effect of heterogeneity on treatment effectiveness, meaning that there may be groups of people diagnosed with ASD who do not respond as expected to SSRI treatment.

The current lack of information regarding the side effects and long-term treatment safety of SSRIs, and the small number of trials performed to see the effectiveness of SSRIs on ASD hallmarks makes it difficult to assess a benefit-risk ratio. Besides this, it is also noticeable that the research performed lacks the necessary quality to draw strong conclusions. While most studies are controlled trials, the sample sizes used are often on the smaller side making interpretation limiting (**Table 1**). On the other hand, the duration of the trials exceeds in all cases the six weeks that may be needed to reach the full effectiveness of the SSRIs (**Table 1**) (Chu & Wadhwa, 2023; Edinoff et al., 2021; Taylor et al., 2006). However, if SSRIs would be prescribed patients would take them for longer periods than the ones used in the different studies, and no studies can be found on the safety of long-term usage of SSRIs. Additionally, it is important to note that some of the studies were open-label or secondary analyses, which would also limit the interpretation of the results.

With the currently available information, it would not be recommended to use any type of SSRI, even Fluoxetine and Fluvoxamine, as a first-line treatment especially because there may be other treatment options with a higher success rate, less risk of side effects, and of which more information is known as currently there is a big gap in the literature regarding this topic.

Literature has shown that CBT seems to be effective in reducing symptoms of ASD and comorbid disorders (Weston et al., 2016), however the true effect size of CBT is up to debate, as most research done on this topic has made use of small sample sizes and insufficient information regarding the engagement and fidelity of the patients was reported, which indicates the relatively low quality of the studies included in the analysis by Weston et al. (2016). This means that interpretation of the obtained results is limited. Additionally, research suggests that a standard of practice CBT protocol may be less effective than an adapted CBT protocol. However, these adaptations would be patient-group dependent to achieve maximum effectiveness (Wood et al., 2020).

Since psychological treatments do not have the same degree of side effects as medicinal treatments this would not be a factor of concern when looking at the benefit-risk ratio. While there is plenty of research available about the effects of CBT on ASD this literature is often limited by several factors making it difficult to state a conclusion that would hold for all situations (Weston et al., 2016). However, the combination of the data that is available that indicates positive effects of CBT on ASD symptoms, and the lack of possible side effects would suggest a therapeutic method that can be put as a first line of treatment even with a gap in the literature.

Besides the lack of literature available, especially in the case of SSRIs, it is also important to keep in mind that the diagnostic criteria changed once the Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders 5<sup>th</sup> edition (DSM-V) came out, as this edition broadened the definition of ASD and reduced the specificity of related symptoms in comparison to the criteria in the DSM 4<sup>th</sup> edition (-IV) (Masi et al., 2017). This could mean that in literature there may be a severity bias caused by the difference in diagnosis criteria between DSM-V and DSM-IV, making it more difficult to compare studies that used the DSM-IV as a diagnosis guideline and studies that used the DSM-V as a guideline, as some treatment options may only work in more or less severe cases of ASD.

Within the group diagnosed with ASD, there is a large amount of heterogeneity present (Lord et al., 2018; Masi et al., 2017). The presence of heterogeneity means that the effectiveness of a certain treatment will vary between individuals. This means that while research data may show that a treatment is effective this may not be the case for a specific individual. This makes it difficult to create a treatment regimen that could be used for all individuals with ASD and instead points towards the need for personalized medicine (Frye et al., 2022). However, without a proper amount of research it will be impossible to achieve the necessary knowledge to create such personalized regimens that are needed to for maximum treatment effectiveness.

Overall, it appears that CBT could be named an important type of first-line treatment for patients with ASD. On the other hand, some SSRIs could be used as treatment but should not be categorized as a first-line treatment due to their side effects and unclear effectiveness. However, more research is needed to be able to state with certainty that CBT improves ASD symptoms, and that certain SSRIs do indeed improve ASD symptoms while others do not. Additionally, more research will be needed to see how heterogeneity affects these treatments and how treatment regimens can be adapted to it.

#### References

- Ambhore, A., Teo, S., Omar, A., & Poh, K. (2014). Importance of QT interval in clinical practice. Singapore Medical Journal, 55(12), 607–612. <u>https://doi.org/10.11622/smedj.2014172</u>
- Beck, J. S. (2020). Cognitive Behavior Therapy : Basics and Beyond (3rd ed.). The Guilford Press. <u>https://ebookcentral.proquest.com/lib/rug/detail.action?docID=6335114</u>
- Bishop-Fitzpatrick, L., Mazefsky, C. A., Eack, S. M., & Minshew, N. J. (2017). Correlates of social functioning in autism spectrum disorder: The role of social cognition. *Research in Autism Spectrum Disorders*, 35, 25–34. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.rasd.2016.11.013</u>
- Brøsen, K. (1998). Differences in interactions of SSRIs. *International Clinical Psychopharmacology*, *13*(5), S45–S48.
- Chu, A., & Wadhwa, R. (2023, May 1). *Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors*. StatPearls NCBI Bookshelf. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK554406/</u>
- Cooke, M. J., & Waring, W. S. (2012). Citalopram and cardiac toxicity. *European Journal of Clinical Pharmacology*, 69(4), 755–760. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s00228-012-1408-1</u>
- Corponi, F., Fabbri, C., & Serretti, A. (2022). Antidepressants: indications, contraindications, interactions, and side effects. In *Springer eBooks* (pp. 1135–1172). https://doi.org/10.1007/978-3-030-62059-2\_29
- Courchesne, E. (2002). Abnormal early brain development in autism. *Molecular Psychiatry*, 7(S2), S21–S23. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.mp.4001169</u>
- Courchesne, E. (2004). Brain development in autism: Early overgrowth followed by premature arrest of growth. *Mental Retardation and Developmental Disabilities Research Reviews*, 10(2), 106–111. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/mrdd.20020</u>
- Courchesne, E., Carper, R., & Akshoomoff, N. (2003). Evidence of brain overgrowth in the first year of life in autism. *JAMA*, *290*(3), 337. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.290.3.337</u>
- Courchesne, E., Karns, C. M., Davis, H. R., Ziccardi, R., Carper, R. A., Tigue, Z. D., Chisum, H. J., Moses, P., Pierce, K., Lord, C., Lincoln, A. J., Pizzo, S., Schreibman, L., Haas, R. H., Akshoomoff, N. A., & Courchesne, R. Y. (2001). Unusual brain growth patterns in early life in patients with autistic disorder. *Neurology*, *57*(2), 245–254. <u>https://doi.org/10.1212/wnl.57.2.245</u>
- Department of Psychiatry. (2019, October 30). *In the long run, drugs & talk therapy hold same value for depression patients*. Michigan Medicine. Retrieved June 19, 2024, from <a href="https://medicine.umich.edu/dept/psychiatry/news/archive/201910/long-run-drugs-talk-therapy-hold-same-value-depression-patients">https://medicine.umich.edu/dept/psychiatry/news/archive/201910/long-run-drugs-talk-therapy-hold-same-value-depression-patients</a>
- Edinoff, A. N., Akuly, H. A., Hanna, T. A., Ochoa, C. O., Patti, S. J., Ghaffar, Y. A., Kaye, A. D., Viswanath, O., Urits, I., Boyer, A. G., Cornett, E. M., & Kaye, A. M. (2021). Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors and Adverse Effects: A Narrative review. *Neurology International*, 13(3), 387–401. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/neurolint13030038</u>

- Frye, R. E., Rose, S., Boles, R. G., & Rossignol, D. A. (2022). A personalized approach to evaluating and treating autism spectrum disorder. *Journal of Personalized Medicine*, 12(2), 147. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/jpm12020147</u>
- Haller, S. P., Linke, J. O., Grassie, H. L., Jones, E. L., Pagliaccio, D., Harrewijn, A., White, L. K., Naim, R., Abend, R., Mallidi, A., Berman, E., Lewis, K. M., Kircanski, K., Fox, N. A., Silverman, W. K., Kalin, N. H., Bar-Haim, Y., & Brotman, M. A. (2024). Normalization of Fronto-Parietal activation by Cognitive-Behavioral therapy in unmedicated pediatric patients with anxiety disorders. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, 181(3), 201–212. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.20220449
- Hodges, H., Fealko, C., & Soares, N. (2020). Autism spectrum disorder: definition, epidemiology, causes, and clinical evaluation. *Translational Pediatrics*, 9(S1), S55– S65. <u>https://doi.org/10.21037/tp.2019.09.09</u>
- Hollander, E., Phillips, A., Chaplin, W., Zagursky, K., Novotny, S., Wasserman, S., & Iyengar, R. (2004). A placebo controlled crossover trial of liquid fluoxetine on repetitive behaviors in childhood and adolescent autism. *Neuropsychopharmacology*, 30(3), 582–589. <u>https://doi.org/10.1038/sj.npp.1300627</u>
- Hollander, E., Soorya, L., Chaplin, W., Anagnostou, E., Taylor, B. P., Ferretti, C. J., Wasserman, S., Swanson, E., & Settipani, C. (2012). A Double-Blind Placebo-Controlled trial of fluoxetine for repetitive behaviors and global severity in adult autism spectrum disorders. *The American Journal of Psychiatry*, *169*(3), 292–299. https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.ajp.2011.10050764
- Institute for Quality and Efficiency in Health Care. (2022, June 2). In brief: Cognitive Behavioral therapy (CBT). InformedHealth.org - NCBI Bookshelf. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK279297/</u>
- King, B. H., Hollander, E., Sikich, L., McCracken, J. T., Scahill, L., Bregman, J. D., Donnelly, C. L., Anagnostou, E., Dukes, K., Sullivan, L., Hirtz, D., Wagner, A., & Ritz, L. (2009). Lack of efficacy of Citalopram in children with autism spectrum disorders and high levels of repetitive behavior. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 66(6), 583. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/archgenpsychiatry.2009.30</u>
- Kohane, I. S., McMurry, A., Weber, G., MacFadden, D., Rappaport, L., Kunkel, L., Bickel, J., Wattanasin, N., Spence, S., Murphy, S., & Churchill, S. (2012). The Co-Morbidity Burden of Children and Young Adults with Autism Spectrum Disorders. *PloS One*, 7(4), e33224. <u>https://doi.org/10.1371/journal.pone.0033224</u>
- Kurz, R., Huemer, J., Muchitsch, E., & Feucht, M. (2018). Cognitive behavioral therapy for children with autism spectrum disorder: A prospective observational study. *European Journal of Paediatric Neurology*, 22(5), 803–806. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.ejpn.2018.05.010</u>
- Lainhart, J. E., Piven, J., Wzorek, M., Landa, R., Santangelo, S. L., Coon, H., & Folstein, S. E. (1997). Macrocephaly in children and adults with autism. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, 36(2), 282–290. <u>https://doi.org/10.1097/00004583-199702000-00019</u>

- Lenroot, R. K., & Yeung, P. K. (2013). Heterogeneity within Autism Spectrum Disorders: What have We Learned from Neuroimaging Studies? *Frontiers in Human Neuroscience*, 7. https://doi.org/10.3389/fnhum.2013.00733
- Li, Y., Chen, C., Chen, Q., Yuan, S., Liang, W., Zhu, Y., & Zhang, B. (2024). Effects of Selective serotonin reuptake Inhibitors (SSRIs) on Suicide: A Network Meta-Analysis of Double-Blind Randomized Trials. *Psychiatry Research*, 336, 115917. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.psychres.2024.115917</u>
- Lochmann, D., & Richardson, T. (2018). Selective serotonin reuptake inhibitors. In *Handbook* of experimental pharmacology (pp. 135–144). <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/164\_2018\_172</u>
- Loomes, R., Hull, L., & Mandy, W. P. L. (2017). What is the Male-to-Female Ratio in Autism Spectrum Disorder? A Systematic Review and Meta-Analysis. *Journal of the American Academy of Child and Adolescent Psychiatry*, *56*(6), 466–474. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jaac.2017.03.013</u>
- Lord, C., Elsabbagh, M., Baird, G., & Veenstra-Vanderweele, J. (2018). Autism spectrum disorder. *Lancet*, *392*(10146), 508–520. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/s0140-6736(18)31129-2</u>
- Masi, A., DeMayo, M. M., Glozier, N., & Guastella, A. J. (2017). An overview of autism spectrum disorder, heterogeneity and treatment options. *Neuroscience Bulletin/Neuroscience Bulletin, 33*(2), 183–193. <u>https://doi.org/10.1007/s12264-017-0100-y</u>
- McDougle, C. J., Naylor, S. T., Cohen, D. J., Volkmar, F. R., Heninger, G. R., & Price, L. H. (1996). A double-blind, Placebo-Controlled study of fluvoxamine in adults with autistic disorder. *Archives of General Psychiatry*, 53(11), 1001. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.1996.01830110037005</u>
- Nevels, R. M., Gontkovsky, S. T., & Williams, B. E. (2016). Paroxetine-The Antidepressant from Hell? Probably Not, But Caution Required. *Psychopharmacology Bulletin 46*(1), 77–104. <u>https://pubmed.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/27738376</u>
- Owley, T., Brune, C. W., Salt, J., Walton, L., Guter, S., Ayuyao, N., Gibbons, R. D., Leventhal, B.
   L., & Cook, E. H. (2010). A Pharmacogenetic study of escitalopram in autism spectrum disorders. *Autism Research*, 3(1), 1–7. <u>https://doi.org/10.1002/aur.109</u>
- Potter, L. A., Scholze, D. A., Biag, H. M. B., Schneider, A., Chen, Y., Nguyen, D. V., Rajaratnam, A., Rivera, S. M., Dwyer, P. S., Tassone, F., Olaby, R. R. A., Choudhary, N. S., Salcedo-Arellano, M. J., & Hagerman, R. J. (2019). A randomized controlled trial of sertraline in young children with autism spectrum disorder. *Frontiers in Psychiatry*, 10. <u>https://doi.org/10.3389/fpsyt.2019.00810</u>
- Ratto, A. B., Kenworthy, L., Yerys, B. E., Bascom, J., Wieckowski, A. T., White, S. W., Wallace, G. L., Pugliese, C., Schultz, R. T., Ollendick, T. H., Scarpa, A., Seese, S., Register-Brown, K., Martin, A., & Anthony, L. G. (2017). What about the girls? Sex-Based differences in autistic traits and adaptive skills. *Journal of Autism and Developmental Disorders*, 48(5), 1698–1711. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10803-017-3413-9

- Reddihough, D. S., Marraffa, C., Mouti, A., O'Sullivan, M., Lee, K. J., Orsini, F., Hazell, P., Granich, J., Whitehouse, A. J. O., Wray, J., Dossetor, D., Santosh, P., Silove, N., & Kohn, M. (2019). Effect of Fluoxetine on Obsessive-Compulsive Behaviors in children and Adolescents with autism spectrum Disorders. *JAMA*, *322*(16), 1561. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jama.2019.14685</u>
- Santarsieri, D., & Schwartz, T. L. (2015). Antidepressant efficacy and side-effect burden: a quick guide for clinicians. *Drugs in Context, 4*, 1–12. <u>https://doi.org/10.7573/dic.212290</u>
- Shenoy, M. D., Indla, V., & Reddy, H. (2017). Comprehensive Management of Autism: Current evidence. *Indian Journal of Psychological Medicine*, *39*(6), 727–731. <u>https://doi.org/10.4103/ijpsym.ijpsym\_272\_17</u>
- Simon, L. V., Torrico, T. J., & Keenaghan, M. (2024, March 2). *Serotonin syndrome*. StatPearls - NCBI Bookshelf. <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/books/NBK482377/</u>
- Simonoff, E., Mowlem, F., Pearson, O., Anagnostou, E., Donnelly, C., Hollander, E., King, B. H., McCracken, J. T., Scahill, L., Sikich, L., & Pickles, A. (2022). Citalopram Did Not Significantly Improve Anxiety in Children with Autism Spectrum Disorder Undergoing Treatment for Core Symptoms: Secondary Analysis of a Trial to Reduce Repetitive Behaviors. Journal of Child and Adolescent Psychopharmacology, 32(4), 233–241. https://doi.org/10.1089/cap.2021.0137
- Taylor, M. J., Freemantle, N., Geddes, J. R., & Bhagwagar, Z. (2006). Early onset of selective serotonin reuptake inhibitor antidepressant action. Archives of General Psychiatry, 63(11), 1217. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/archpsyc.63.11.1217</u>
- The American Psychiatric Association. (2013). *Diagnostic and Statistical Manual of Mental Disorders* (5th ed.). <u>https://doi.org/10.1176/appi.books.9780890425596</u>
- Thryv Therapeutics. (2020, November 11). Long QT syndrome and its various types. Retrieved June 18, 2024, from <u>https://thryvtrx.com/shared-stories-blog/long-gt-</u> <u>syndrome-types</u>
- Viibryd (Vilazodone) FDA approval history. (n.d.). Drugs.com. Retrieved June 7, 2024, from https://www.drugs.com/history/viibryd.html
- Villeneuve, J., & Pichette, V. (2004). Cytochrome P450 and liver diseases. *Current Drug Metabolism, 5*(3), 273–282. <u>https://doi.org/10.2174/1389200043335531</u>
- Wang, S., Han, C., Lee, S., Patkar, A. A., Masand, P. S., & Pae, C. (2016). Vilazodone for the Treatment of Depression: an update. *Chonnam Medical Journal*, 52(2), 91. <u>https://doi.org/10.4068/cmj.2016.52.2.91</u>
- Wang, X., Zhao, J., Huang, S., Chen, S., Zhou, T., Li, Q., Luo, X., & Hao, Y. (2021). Cognitive Behavioral Therapy for Autism Spectrum Disorders: A Systematic review. *Pediatrics*, 147(5). <u>https://doi.org/10.1542/peds.2020-049880</u>
- Weston, L., Hodgekins, J., & Langdon, P. E. (2016). Effectiveness of cognitive behavioural therapy with people who have autistic spectrum disorders: A systematic review and meta-analysis. *Clinical Psychology Review*, 49, 41–54. <u>https://doi.org/10.1016/j.cpr.2016.08.001</u>

- Wood, J. J., Kendall, P. C., Wood, K. S., Kerns, C. M., Seltzer, M., Small, B. J., Lewin, A. B., & Storch, E. A. (2020). Cognitive Behavioral Treatments for anxiety in children with autism spectrum Disorder. JAMA Psychiatry, 77(5), 474. <u>https://doi.org/10.1001/jamapsychiatry.2019.4160</u>
- Zaboski, B. A., & Storch, E. A. (2018). Comorbid autism spectrum disorder and anxiety disorders: a brief review. *Future Neurology*, *13*(1), 31–37. https://doi.org/10.2217/fnl-2017-0030
- Zhao, M., Ma, J., Li, M., Zhang, Y., Jiang, B., Zhao, X., Huai, C., Shen, L., Zhang, N., He, L., & Qin, S. (2021). Cytochrome P450 enzymes and drug metabolism in humans. *International Journal of Molecular Sciences*, 22(23), 12808. <u>https://doi.org/10.3390/ijms222312808</u>